Biodeterioration

1

Enza Di Carlo, Giovanna Barresi, and Franco Palla

Contents

1.1	1.1 Biological Systems as Deteriogens					
	1.1.1	Macro-systems	4			
	1.1.2	Micro-systems	5			
1.2	Microbial Colonizers					
	1.2.1	Algae and Cyanobacteria	6			
	1.2.2	Bacteria	7			
	1.2.3	Fungi	8			
1.3	Microbial Metabolic Activities and Deterioration of Cultural Assets					
	1.3.1	Inorganic Substrates	9			
	1.3.2	Organic Matter	11			
1.4	Integrated Approach to Reveal and Identify Bacteria and Fungi Colonization					
	on Work of Art Surface					
	1.4.1	Sampling by Noninvasive Methods	15			
	1.4.2	Microscopy	16			
	1.4.3	In Vitro Culture	18			
	1.4.4	Molecular Investigations	19			
Refe	-					

Abstract

The biodeterioration of organic and inorganic materials, as well as polymers, is a complex of alteration processes induced by the growing and metabolic activity of organisms. It can be recognized on monuments, wall paintings, stone, wood, paper, vegetal/animal fibers, and parchment artworks. As defined by Hueck (1968), biodeterioration is "any undesirable change in the properties of a material caused by the vital activities of organisms"; this definition is

E. Di Carlo (🖂) • G. Barresi • F. Palla

University of Palermo, Laboratory of Biology and Biotechnologies for Cultural Heritage, Department of STEBICEF, Via Archirafi 38, 90123 Palermo, Italy e-mail: enza.dicarlo@unipa.it; giovannabenedetta.barresi@unipa.it; franco.palla@unipa.it

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

F. Palla, G. Barresi (eds.), *Biotechnology and Conservation of Cultural Heritage*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46168-7_1

accepted as the meaning of the phenomenon. Both macroorganisms (such as animals, plants and mosses) and microorganisms (such as autotrophic or heterotrophic bacteria, microfungi, cyanobacteria, algae and lichens) represent the triggers of biodeterioration for cultural heritage. Understanding the morphological and physiological features of the biodeteriogens is required to establish the kind of interaction that occurs with the material and to assess the cause-effect of the biodeterioration action of a specific identified biological agent. For a complete evaluation of biodeteriogens are required. Therefore, in order to apply a prompt and effective conservation to limit further damage, evaluating and quantifying the presence of biological systems that induce damage in heritage materials is indispensable.

1.1 Biological Systems as Deteriogens

An object can represent a *microcosmos* in which several types of vital organisms – and their metabolic excretes or products – coexist, in response to climatic or environmental parameters and to chemical or physical materials properties. Both artifacts of artistic-historical value stored in museums or galleries, and monuments or historical buildings exposed outdoors, are largely subjected to deterioration processes by macro- and microorganisms (e.g., rodents, birds, plants, insects, lichens, algae, bryophytes, fungi, bacteria, cyanobacteria) commonly known as *biodeteriogens*. Biological systems are able to initiate, support, and accelerate some chemical and physical reactions, representing a serious threat for the integrity and conservation of cultural assets, in both indoor and outdoor sites (Dakal and Cameotra 2011).

The biodeterioration of a wide range of cultural heritage materials has been largely investigated, and the effects of biodeterioration caused by living organisms are well documented (Lombardozzi et al. 2012; Piervittori et al. 1996). In relation to nutritional requirements and metabolic properties, organisms show different responses to colonized materials and cause different types of damage; knowledge of the biodeteriogens, their nutritional requirements, their growing settings, and their manifestation once they have colonized cultural items is indispensable to recognize the severity of the biodeterioration process.

The biodeteriogens' varieties should be grouped according to their attendance in different materials and to their type of damage: Table 1.1 shows the main groups of biodeteriogens.

In biological colonization, there are always some pioneer cells that facilitate the colonization of other organisms, especially in those materials (e.g., stone) that do not support the growth of heterotrophic organisms but can support food and organic energy sources for them in the form of other microbes, insect fragments, and bird

	Physical damage	Chemical damage	Damaged materials
Higher plants	Cracks, detachment of stone	Roots excrete organic acids	Natural and artificial stones
Animals and insects	Holes, losses and surface erosion and disintegration, structural damages	Droppings and urine	Stone, wood, paper, parchment and leather, vegetal and animal fibers, and more
Mosses and liverworts	Physical intrusion by rhizoids	Extraction of mineral from substratum, production of carbonic acid	Natural and artificial stones
Lichens	Cracks and fissures	Releasing of highly corrosive organic acids	Limestone, sandstone
Algae and cyanobacteria	Powdering	Staining, disintegration of stone	Natural and artificial stones, wall paintings, wood
Fungi	Contraction and expansion of thallus, fissures, loss of materials	Production of organic and inorganic acids and pigments, chelating properties	Stone, wall paintings, wood, paper, parchment and leather, vegetal and animal fibers, and more
Heterotrophic bacteria	_	Staining, production of acids and pigments	Stone, wall paintings, wood, paper, parchment and leather, vegetal and animal fibers, and more
Autotrophic bacteria	_	Production of organic and inorganic acids, biofilm formation, staining	Stone, wall paintings, wood, paper, parchment and leather, vegetal and animal fibers, and more

Table 1.1 Major biodeteriogens affecting cultural heritage materials and related physical and chemical damages

droppings (Sharma et al. 1985; Hochella 2002; Vaughan et al. 2002; Warscheid and Braams 2000).

The bioaerosol is also a potential source of biodeteriogens, due to the large number of biological particles suspended in the air (fungal and bacterial spores, lichen and algal cells, pollen grains); the spores transported by air or dust can represent a threat of paper and graphic collections (books, photographs, etc.) preserved in libraries, archives, and repositories. Throughout, these locations are generally characterized by poor ventilation, and the absence of periodic cleaning can compromise the integrity of stored objects and in addition can facilitate the proliferation of dangerous fungi. An object evidently has different levels of susceptibility to biodeterioration or colonization, also depending on human contribution in terms of care of cultural heritage.

The following biological systems have been largely known to induce biodeterioration phenomena on cultural heritage, in both organic and inorganic materials.



Fig. 1.1 Higher plant massive growth on Cambodian temple (Angkor Park)

1.1.1 Macro-systems

Higher plants pose a severe threat especially for the conservation of archaeological remains and buildings, as they can involve physical and chemical diseases (Celesti-Grapow and Blasi 2004; Mishra et al. 1995). The damage caused by plants on monuments or archaeological sites is well known and is linked either to particular biological forms or to the characteristics of root systems (Caneva et al. 1994). Archaeological sites are characterized by rich flora and vegetation (Caneva et al. 2003; Capotorti et al. 2013) where the plants can develop in various structures (e.g., vertical/inclined wall surfaces, horizontal surfaces) and in different ecological conditions (Fig. 1.1). Lisci et al. (2003) described two types of colonization; the first regards an attack on the wall structure, usually the result of abiotic factors that create suitable conditions for microbial growth (bacteria, fungi, and lichens), which accelerate the deterioration of the structure and lead to the formation of a substrate for the germination of seeds. It is well known that some wall plants, especially perennial ones, with their radical apparatus and biomass can compromise the integrity and structural stability of ancient monuments (Mishra et al. 1995; Caneva et al. 2006). The second mode of colonization ensues mostly on horizontal surfaces with a water supply; the pioneer plants are mosses that trap atmospheric dusts, allowing the formation of appropriate substrate for the germination of other plants. Moreover, higher plants with a root system may penetrate deep into the structure and grow, causing physical and chemical damage, through the exudation of organic acids. The deep penetration of the roots of tree species (such as *Pinus pinea* and *Quercus ilex*) can be dangerous for hypogenous structures, producing the detachment of plaster and the collapse of walls, their mechanical force can open cracks, cause crumbling, loosen stones and large fragments of the wall (Tiano 1986; Bettini and Villa 1976; Caneva and Galotta 1994; Lisci et al. 2003; Almeida et al. 1994).

Mosses and liverworts (bryophytes) are able to penetrate some types of stone with their rhizoids. The damage they cause is mainly associated with aesthetic appearance (usually green-gray patches). The capacity of the mosses to accumulate calcium ions from the substratum is associated with their biodeterioration capacity; the carbonic acid produced as a result of their cellular respiration can cause damage to stone. Moreover, the death of mosses causes indirect damage to monuments and stones by enriching and increasing the humus content which supports the growth of successive higher plant species (Dakal and Cameotra 2012).

As regards the role of animals in the biodeterioration of cultural heritage, direct and indirect actions can be distinguished; for example, the direct action of birds is both physical, caused by crushing and scraping, and chemical, caused by the release of acid excrements containing high amounts of nitrate and phosphate compounds. Indirect damage occurs as a result of organic substances accumulated on stone surfaces, which can serve as nutritive substrata for heterotrophic microflora.

Molds affecting archival and library materials can display different types of interaction with insects that feed on the materials of stored objects, and the biological particles can be vehicle by visitors or, sometimes, by synanthropic rodents, eating wood, leather, and other soft organic materials. Many insects are able to damage wood using it as a nutrient source and for shelter and egg laying. The way adult insects or larvae digest cellulosic compounds varies (Allsopp et al. 2004). Among insects, silverfishes are a threat to any heritage collection; in particular they eat glue and starch in books and in paper objects; termites eat cellulose-based materials (e.g., wooden furniture and artifacts, textiles, ethnographic artifacts); beetles can cause extensive damage to a variety of proteinaceous materials (e.g., wool, feathers, silk) and cellulosic textiles.

Furthermore, submerged or waterlogged materials, such as ceramics and wood, can suffer damage by several marine organisms that use them as a support for their growth. Depending on their chemical composition, the submerged stone artifacts are susceptible to the action of corrosion by perforating animal and plant organisms, such as sponges and bivalves that can induce macroboring (Ricci and Davidde 2012; Casoli et al. 2015).

1.1.2 Micro-systems

The term "microorganism" covers a wide variety of life forms, including bacteria, cyanobacteria, algae, lichens, and fungi. All cited microorganisms have different ecological properties and cause different damage in organic and inorganic materials of cultural heritage.

Favorable environmental conditions and the presence of energy sources with organic or inorganic nutrients allow the biological settlement of an exposed surface (Urzi and Krumbein 1994). The consequence of the biological activity is the formation of biofilms, colored patinas, encrustations and the presence of vegetative and reproductive bodies. In addition, fungi and bacteria are commonly isolated from libraries, archives, and museums' collections. Moreover, in indoor environments, the high presence of certain microbial species may involve irritation of the eyes and respiratory tract and can induce headaches, drowsiness, skin rash, and itching of the skin (Green and Scarpino 2002).

1.2 Microbial Colonizers

Microorganism biodiversity includes bacteria, archaea, and eukaryotes, which are extraordinarily diverse in their requirements for growth, and their proliferation is greatly affected by the nutrients available in their environment. Different kinds of microorganisms colonize artworks: chemoheterotrophic bacteria, chemolithotrophic bacteria, phototrophic bacteria, algae, and fungi. In the case of microbial-induced biodeterioration, alteration processes can arise when environmental conditions are favorable to growth (Nielsen et al. 2004; Nittérus 2000; Caneva et al. 1994) or when the existence of nutrients favors the colonization (Saiz-Jiménez 1993; Sterflinger and Piñar 2013). Microbial development depends on a combination of factors including the relative humidity (RH, %), temperature fluctuation, natural or artificial lighting, moisture content, dust content, osmotic pressure, and carbon dioxide concentration in the atmosphere (Valentin 2003; Woese 2000; Caneva et al. 2008).

1.2.1 Algae and Cyanobacteria

Among *micro*-biodeteriogens, photosynthetic ones are potentially the most aggressive, due to their ability to develop on stone surfaces, causing colored patinas and incrustations (Tomaselli et al. 2000). Algae and cyanobacteria are usually the first colonizers of historical monuments due to their photosynthetic nature, causing aesthetic damage and indirectly supporting the growth of other microorganisms (Urzi and Krumbein 1994). These organisms can develop on exposed stone when a suitable combination of dampness, warmth, and light occurs and inorganic nutrients (e.g., calcium and magnesium minerals) are present. Algae may also cause biochemical deterioration, producing small quantities of organic acids (they dissolve and powder the stone), proteins, and sugars, which can promote the growth of bacteria.

Cyanobacteria are organisms traditionally included among algae, but they have a cell structure typical of bacteria. Cyanobacteria are a morphologically diverse group of phototrophic prokaryotes with the ability to synthesize *chlorophyll a* and *phycobilin* pigments. Depending on the kind of organism and on the cycle phase,

dark-green-, brown-, gray-, and pink-colored patinas may occur (Huer 2008). All cyanobacteria are unicellular, though many grow in colonies or filaments, often surrounded by a gelatinous or mucilaginous sheath.

The photosynthetic activity of these microorganisms enriches the substrate with organic carbon in various forms, and subsequently the growing biomass entraps dust and soil particles providing further nutrient enrichment (Hirsch et al. 1995; Souza-Egipsy et al. 2004). The tolerance to desiccation, ability to utilize efficiently low light intensity and tolerate high levels, and resistance to high temperatures are important features of cyanobacteria which explain their widespread occurrence (Lamenti et al. 2003). Cyanobacteria have the ability to survive under drying and rehydration conditions on exposed monument surfaces and can protect themselves from harmful UV radiation by pigment production; they are also recognized in hypogeal environments (Albertano et al. 2003; Hoffmann 2002; Roldan et al. 2004).

1.2.2 Bacteria

Bacteria are a group of prokaryotic unicellular or colonial organisms of various shapes, classified into five groups according to their shapes: cocci, bacilli, spirilla, vibrios, or spirochaetes. The bacterium has a fairly thick cell wall made of peptidoglycans (carbohydrate polymers cross-linked by proteins); such bacteria retain a purple color when stained with a dye known as crystal violet and are known as gram positive (staining procedure). Other bacteria have double cell walls, with a thin inner wall of peptidoglycan and an outer wall of carbohydrates, proteins, and lipids. Such bacteria do not stain purple with crystal violet and are known as Gram negative (La Placa 2005).

Bacteria involved in deterioration of monuments and artworks mainly belong to three nutritional groups: photoautotrophs, chemolithoautotrophs, and chemoor-ganotrophs. Various species in photoautotrophs and chemolithoautotrophs groups (cyanobacteria, sulfur-oxidizing, and nitrifying bacteria) produce strong inorganic acids (sulfuric and nitric, respectively). Chemolithoautotrophic bacteria can derive their energy from the oxidation of reduced inorganic substances, using carbon dioxide as main carbon source. Endolithic nitrifying bacteria are the main representatives of the chemolithoautotrophic microflora in building stones; Kauffmann (1952) and Wagner and Schwartz (1965) first indicated the significance of nitrifying bacteria for biodeterioration.

Chemoorganotrophic bacteria produce several organic acids that can solubilize the mineral components of stones, such as the genera *Flavobacterium*, *Pseudomonas*, and *Microbacter* (Tiano and Tomaselli 1989; Tayler and May 1995; Swings and Descheemaeker 1995; Ortega-Calvo et al. 1993). Among the microorganisms dwelling on stone monuments, the autotrophic ones are considered the pioneering inhabitants.

Biodeterioration of organic substrates is a process involving several types of bacteria and represents a severe problem for archives, museums, and libraries. Bacteria also display wide diversity in enzyme production, including lipases, proteases, and oxidoreductases (Neelakanta and Sultana 2013). Intense research on advanced microbiological systems based on the use of microorganisms for the removal of alterations on works of art has shown them to be a viable alternative for cultural heritage restoration (Ranalli and Sorlini 2008; Palla et al. 2013, Martino et al. 2015; Barresi et al. 2015).

1.2.3 Fungi

Fungi are usually classified in four divisions: the *Chytridiomycota*, the *Zygomycota*, the *Ascomycota*, and the *Basidiomycota*. There are also two conventional groups which are not recognized as formal taxonomic groups; these are the *Deuteromycota* and lichens. *Deuteromycota* include all fungi which do not reproduce themselves sexually, and lichens are a group of composite organisms formed by the association of algae and fungi. Frequently associated with biodeterioration of rocks and outdoor stone, lichens are highly resistant to desiccation and extreme temperatures. They are able to produce pigments, such as chlorophyll, carotenoid, and melanin, that may generate chromatic variations toward yellow, orange, red, or even brown (Krumbein 2003; Tiano and Tomaselli 1989; May et al. 1993; Palla et al. 2010).

Fungi are metabolically more versatile than other biodeteriogens because they are able to colonize on a wide variety of substrates (Sterflinger 2010; Onofri et al. 2014). They can exert both a biomechanical action through the disaggregation and reaggregation of the mineral fraction of stones and a biochemical action by producing metabolic organic and inorganic acid and by the absorption of metals by mycelia felts (Burford et al. 2003; Sterflinger 2000). Due to their enzymatic activity, fungi are also able to inhabit and to cause decay in paintings, textiles, paper, parchment, leather, oil, casein, glue, and other materials used for historical- artistic objects. Several fungal metabolic products are strongly colored, and the phenomenon of staining produced on the damaged areas on monuments can be the consequence of fungal development. In indoor environments (e.g., archives), when relative humidity increases and no adequate ventilation occurs, the conidia may be deposited more quickly on documents and deteriorate the document supports (Borrego et al. 2012).

Fungal flora inside environments are representative of the outdoor atmosphere, since airborne spores penetrate through doors and windows and the spores in the airborne particulate can cause an increase in allergies and respiratory and skin diseases, headaches, asthma, and weariness (Borrego et al. 2012).

1.3 Microbial Metabolic Activities and Deterioration of Cultural Assets

Both in organic and inorganic matters, evidence of biodeterioration is related to physical and chemical processes induced by microorganisms; physical damage is generally induced by growth or penetration within the material with formation of micro-fractures, loss of cohesiveness, and disaggregation of the substrate (López-Miras et al. 2013; Cataldo et al. 2005). Physical damage caused by microbial colonization is less extensive than chemical damage, which can arise when products of metabolic activity interact with the material, causing alteration of the substrate, which at times is irreversible. Biochemical deterioration induced by microbial colonization consists both in digestion processes, when microorganisms use the substrate as nourishment, especially when organic compounds are utilized, and in metabolic excretions, waste products, or other substances (e.g., organic and inorganic acids, pigments) (Strzelczyk 2004; Saiz-Jimenez 1999; Perry et al. 2003). Many factors can contribute to biodeterioration, including the properties of the original materials, sources of nutrients, and the environmental conditions in which the objects are stored or exposed (Warscheid and Braams 2000; Prieto et al. 2006; Pavlogeorgatos 2003). However, the complete understanding of biodeterioration processes is difficult, being the result of complex microbial interactions (Mandrioli et al. 2003; Warscheid and Braams 2000).

1.3.1 Inorganic Substrates

Artworks made of inorganic materials are exposed to natural processes of biodeterioration, especially when they are located outside (Cutler et al. 2013; Kumar and Kumar 1999; Dakal and Cameotra 2012). The biodeterioration process affects monumental stones, statues, historical buildings, wall paintings, archaeological remains, and, to a lesser extent, glasses and metals (Giustetto et al. 2015; Biswas et al. 2013; Gorbushina and Palinska 1999; Gorbushina et al. 2004; Piñar and Sterflinger 2009).

Numerous parameters influence the succession of microorganisms on stone; firstly the properties of the stone itself determine the colonization pattern. The mineral composition, structure-texture, porosity, and permeability of stone may influence the distribution of such organisms in the monuments (Miller and Macedo 2006). Favorable environmental conditions and the presence of nourishment sources allow the biological colonization of an exposed stone surface (Miller et al. 2000; Palla et al. 2003; Anagnostidis et al. 1991). It is known that biological growth on stone is highly dependent on climatic and microclimatic conditions, such as humidity, temperature, light, and atmospheric pollutants (Moroni and Pitzurra 2008; Mansch and Bock 1998; Zanardini et al. 2000; Nuhoglu et al. 2006). To avoid microbial proliferation, it is necessary to control environmental factors, which becomes difficult in archaeological sites or in urban spaces, but is more easily achieved in closed environments where the control of climatic and microclimatic conditions is easier (Salvadori and Charola 2011). Occasionally, the metabolic activities of microorganisms (autotrophic and heterotrophic) induce different types of damage: physical, when pressure is exerted by the growth of vegetative structures (e.g., lichenic and fungal thalli); chemical, when the excretion of enzymes, the production of inorganic and organic acids, and the liberation of chelating compounds occur; and aesthetical, as in the effect of releasing pigments (colored patches or patinas) (Ascaso and Wierzchos 1995; Ortega-Calvo et al. 1995; Albertano and Urzì 1993). Microbial colonization of cultural stone heritage may cause aesthetic changes due to the growth of pigmented



Fig. 1.2 Differently pigmented biological systems (algae and cyanobacteria) colonizing wall surface in hypogeal environment

microorganisms; cyanobacteria, algae, fungi, lichens, and some pigmented bacteria are responsible for these effects (McNamara and Mitchell 2005; Crispim and Gaylarde 2005). The algae and cyanobacteria can be considered the pioneering colonizers of a stone surface (Tomaselli et al. 2000), and as a result of their development, green-, brown-, and gray-colored patinas may also occur (Fig. 1.2) (Hauer et al. 2015; Golubíc et al. 2015). Lichens can be identified by directly observing the stone surface and are regarded as major biodeterioration agents in outdoor stone monuments (de los Ríos et al. 2009; Chen et al. 2000). Lichens and fungi can cause serious degradation by physical penetration: fungal hyphae are able to penetrate deeply beneath the stone surface, contributing to mechanical deterioration. This penetration simultaneously allows the transport of water and nutrients through the stone, facilitating internal colonization (Fernandes 2006).

Many microorganisms play an important role in the deterioration of stone often through the action of organic and inorganic acids produced as metabolic products (Adamo and Violante 2000; Sazanova et al. 2014). Generally, most microorganisms excrete organic acids while metabolizing organic and inorganic compounds. Organic acids react with the substrate through the action of protons and chelation of metal ions. The excretion by the lichen of low-molecular-weight organic carboxylic acids, such as oxalic, citric, gluconic and lactic acids, with combined chelating and acidic properties, is a phenomenon of high intensity (Adamo and Violante 2000).

The production of inorganic acids is limited to some systematic groups, in particular to sulfobacteria and nitrobacteria; due to the action of nitrous and nitric acid excreted by nitrifying bacteria (*Nitrosomonas* spp. and *Nitrobacter* spp.), as well as sulfuric acid by sulfur-oxidizing bacteria (*Thiobacillus* spp.), stone dissolution and the formation of nitrate salts of stone (biocorrosion) can ensue (Fernandes 2006; Mansch and Bock 1998; Bock et al. 1990). Endolithic nitrifying bacteria are the main chemolithoautotrophic microflora in building stones. On the other hand, heterotrophic microorganisms develop on inorganic materials if nutrients, e.g., settled particulate matter, organic residual substances, and organic resins, glues, or binders by restoration practices, have been deposited on them (Caneva et al. 1998).

The fungal genera which have been demonstrated to be more abundant on inorganic materials, especially on stone, are *Cladosporium*, *Penicillium*, *Trichoderma*, *Fusarium*, and *Aspergillus* (de la Torre et al. 1993; Sazanova et al. 2014; Torre et al. 1993; Gu et al. 1998; Hu et al. 2013; Prasad Gupta and Sharma 2012; Sharma et al. 2011). The reduction and oxidation of mineral cations are characteristic activities of fungi (de la Torre and Gomez-Alarcon 1994). Several fungal metabolic products are strongly colored; dark spots are attributed to the presence of fungi of the family of *Dematiaceae*, which contains melanin pigments inside the mycelium. Black microcolonial fungi (MCF) play an important role in structural and aesthetic alteration and are considered among the most harmful microorganisms associated with monumental stone biodeterioration (Marvasi et al. 2012; Wollenzien et al. 1995; Isola et al. 2016; Salvadori and Municchia 2016). The dark gray and black crusts and patinas generally found on stone monuments, in particular, calcareous stones, can be derived by secreted dark compounds such as melanins and/or humic acids (Delgado Rodrigues and Valero 2003).

The organisms are often organized as microbial biofilms that cover the surface of the material and/or penetrate the substratum (Hoppert and König 2006). Biofilms often excrete polysaccharides, lipids, pigments, and proteins (Hauer et al. 2015). Through in situ microscopy, the zones where biodeterioration processes take place can be detected as biofilms composed of different microorganisms; endolithic microbial colonization seems to be induced by enhanced moisture availability in cracks and fissures (de los Rìos and Ascaso 2005). The enrichment of sulfur- and hydrocarbon-utilizing bacteria in the biofilms may contribute to dissolution of the stone (Mitchell and Gu 2000).

Detection and identification of damage induced by microorganisms' activity within inorganic substrates is not easy. Anyway, some researchers are using several methodologies and integrated techniques in order to recognize the different microorganisms and their associated biodeterioration (de los Ríos et al. 2009; Suihko et al. 2007; Gutarowska 2010; Fernandes 2006; Herrera et al. 2009).

1.3.2 Organic Matter

Organic-based materials of cultural heritage (e.g., paper, fibers, wood, papyri, leather and parchment) are generally subject to the aggression of several heterotrophic microorganisms that use them as a source of nourishment (Strzelczyk et al. 1997; Manente et al. 2012; Kavkler et al. 2015; Sterflinger 2010; Vukojević and Grbić 2010). Additionally, the presence of organic residues (e.g., glue, dirt, dust) may accelerate the processes of degradation, such as the loss of strength and elongation, oxidation, discoloration and breakdown of molecular structures (Guiamet et al. 2014).

Most microorganisms are specialized in producing hydrolytic or proteolytic enzymes, necessary for the degradation of cellulose or collagen, respectively (Strzelczyk 2004; Sterflinger and Pinzari 2012). The production of extracellular enzymes and the extraction of aggressive metabolic products increase the loss of material (López-Miras et al. 2013). Enzymatic activity (due to cellulases, glucanases, laccases, phenolases, keratinases) plays an important role in the decay of organic materials, especially for libraries and archives heritage; moreover, if collections are exposed to high humidity, high temperature, and insufficient air circulation, fungal colonization is more dangerous (Sterflinger 2010; Rakotonirainy et al. 2015; Guiamet et al. 2014). Fungi often cause serious aesthetical spoiling and chromatic alteration due to the formation of colonies and fungal pigments. When they grow on paper, they degrade all its carbon-containing components such as cellulose by excreting enzymes or organic acids (oxalic, fumaric, succinic, and acetic acids), which settle over the substrate and acidify (López-Miras et al. 2013; Canhoto et al. 2004; Kavkler et al. 2015). Microscopy is also useful in revealing the biological structures related to the development of hyphae in cellulolytic fungi (Guiamet et al. 2014). In paper, leather, or fibers, microbial growth mainly appears as patches of different colors (purple, yellow, brown, black, red, and green), shapes and sizes, related to the presence of pigmented fungal mycelium and spores or to exo-pigments produced by bacteria and fungi (Fig. 1.3a, c).

Paper documents have received particular attention in the past, mainly for a staining phenomenon called *foxing*. Foxing, a typical phenomenon in paper or in textile, is the name of random circular and irregular yellowish to brownish-red stains, fluorescent under ultraviolet rays, on the surface of old books, documents, maps, etc. (Montemartini Corte et al. 2003; Kraková et al. 2012; Rakotonirainy et al. 2015). The role of fungi, and whether they accompany the formation of stains, is still not clearly understood. Many authors dealing with the phenomenon of foxing on paper point out its microbiologic origin, but, in fact, foxing-causing fungi can rarely be cultured. Karbowska-Berent et al. (2014) showed foxing as well as numerous hyphae and fluffy coatings and were able to isolate five strains, belonging to the *Eurotium*, *Aspergillus*, and *Penicillium* genera. Due to their enzymatic activity (exoenzymes such as cellulases, glucanases, laccases, phenolases, keratinases, monooxygenases), fungi are able to inhabit and decay not only paper heritage but also paintings, textiles, parchment, oil, casein, glue, and other materials used for historical art objects.

In paper decay, the most numerous bacteria are heterotrophs (*Cytophaga*, *Cellvibrio*, and *Actinomyces*). Deterioration by bacteria and fungi leads to loss of strength of the natural fibers, causing odor emissions, aesthetic damage, staining, and loss of fiber structure. Fungal damage of textiles can result in discoloration, staining, and smell due to the production of volatile compounds and the enzymatic and mechanical degradation of the material through the activity growth of fungi (Guiamet et al. 2014; Kavkler et al. 2015). Other important properties of fungi are related to their pathogenicity for workers involved in collection maintenance (Borrego et al. 2010; Sahab Ahmed et al. 2014).



Fig. 1.3 Microbial colonization on organic materials: (**a**) paper document affected of pigmented spots originated by microorganisms, (**b**) an oil painting on canvas with fungal colonization on *verso* and (**c**) a lather sword holder completely damaged by white fungal colonization

More complex biodeterioration process occurs in composite materials, such as paintings on canvas, where it starts on the reverse side, due to the presence of support polymers and glue; these components can be substrates for microbial growth. On the other hand, the organic materials present on the *recto* of the paintings are susceptible to attack by specialized microorganisms and by occasional contaminants (López-Miras et al. 2013). Moreover, fungi penetrate cracks and migrate underneath paint layers (Fig. 1.3b), rapidly developing when the environmental relative humidity and temperature increase (RH>70 % and T>25 °C).

The enzymatic degradation by microorganisms regards also hemicellulose and lignin. The decomposition activity in wood can induce physical-mechanical damage (brown rot, soft rot, and white rot) and chromatic alterations (chromogenic fungi). Chromogenic fungi involve chromatic alterations in wooden objects, producing pigments or metabolic substances. These fungi cause the pinkish, bluish, or grayish discoloration of wood, which may occur either in depth or superficially. Instead, bacteria belonging to *Bacillus*, *Pseudomonas*, *Cellulomonas*, *Clostridium*, and *Cytophaga* genera may induce several alterations in wooden items, with characteristic conformation, i.e., erosion and tunneling (Blanchette 2000).

Textiles, particularly those composed of natural organic fibers, such as cotton, linen, wool, etc., are readily attacked by microorganisms. Microbial growth on textile items causes loss of strength and elongation, discoloration, and changes in appearance (Szostak-Kotowa 2004).

The biodegradation of proteinaceous materials – such as vellum, parchment, and leather – can be induced by bacterial (*Bacillus, Pseudomonas, Clostridium, Streptomycetes*) and fungal (*Mucor, Chaetonium, Aureobasidium, Thrichoderma, Epicoccum*) strains. Both groups of microorganisms produce many strong enzymes and acids which can efficiently hydrolyze organic materials, such as extracellular proteolytic enzymes (collagenase, keratinase, etc.). Among actinomycetes (that find proper conditions to proliferate in humid and poorly ventilated environments), there are several strains with strong proteo- and collagenolytic properties, especially within the genus of *Streptomycetes*. Chromatic alterations in leather artifacts, induced by microbial activity, are generally originated by pigmented microbial species (Piñar et al. 2015; Koochakzaei and Achachluei 2015), such as *Streptomyces fimicarius*, generally isolated from miniature and responsible for red- and purplecolored stains (Karbowska-Berent and Strzelczyk 2000).

1.4 Integrated Approach to Reveal and Identify Bacteria and Fungi Colonization on Work of Art Surface

The evaluation of those factors promoting microbial activity and proliferation on artworks and the understanding of related deterioration mechanisms is essential in designing appropriate conservation and restoration strategies. Knowledge of microbial contamination of cultural heritage is of great interest, not only in terms of recognizing microbial communities with potential dangerous effects for stored materials or monuments but also in terms of recognizing microorganisms which represent a risk for human health. This justifies the need for performing systematic microbiological sampling to estimate the prevalence of microbial contamination (Borrego et al. 2010); for an evaluation of the biological risk, it is important to measure both the total microbial load in the indoor environment and on artwork surfaces.

Most of the literature reports on studies identifying biodeterioration on cultural heritage using invasive sampling and culture methods. However, traditional culture methods do not always succeed in isolating microbial agents (Michaelsen et al. 2010). Studies using noninvasive sampling and molecular approaches to investigate the role

of microorganisms in the deterioration process allow a wider understanding of the biodeterioration phenomena. Generally, a total understanding of the conservation situation can be obtained by an integrated approach using traditional culture techniques, microscopy investigations, and molecular analyses. Instead, the diversity of the cultivable microorganisms adhering to a surface can be analyzed directly by molecular techniques (e.g., RAPD analysis, DGGE fingerprinting). In addition, molecular techniques are increasingly applied in the field of conservation and represent very useful tools for detecting and identifying different microbial strains, but they can never be helpful in the evaluation of damage-causing biodeterioration on the substrate. If combined with microscopic observation, molecular analysis enables interrelations between microorganisms and substrates to be detected (Salvadori 2000).

The study of the mechanisms underlying the microbiological attack of historical materials has been widely practiced and continues to represent one of the main focuses of those institutions and laboratories involved in cultural heritage conservation.

1.4.1 Sampling by Noninvasive Methods

In order to reveal microbial communities and understand their relationship with colonized substrates, the use of noninvasive sampling techniques is often required to minimize invasive actions. Depending on the importance, features, materials, and state of conservation of cultural items, it is not always possible to practice invasive sampling (e.g., use of scalpel to sample small pieces from substrate). This step is also required to monitor microbial colonization before and after conservation and restoration treatments of artistic objects. Several nondestructive methods have been proposed for direct or indirect evidence of microbial colonization or biofilms on different substrates. Current sampling procedures involve sterile needles, adhesive tape, and sterile swabs (Fig. 1.4a, b); the use of these tools is closely related to the nature of sampling objects (Sterflinger 2010; Pasquarella et al. 2015).

In the case of paper items, needles and adhesive tape may cause severe surface damage, so it is preferable to use dry swabs, but unfortunately these are very often ineffective (Michaelsen et al. 2009). In order to overcome this problem, other non-invasive sampling methods involving the use of nitrocellulose or nylon membrane filters may be adopted and then transferred onto solid culture media to isolate bacteria and fungi (Fig. 1.4c, d), or used to direct DNA extraction (Montanari et al. 2012; Palla 2011).

Nitrocellulose and nylon membranes can be applied to investigate the presence of viable microbial communities that may be the result of aesthetic or structural damage on several materials. In particular, the use of these filters is indicated for ancient paper or leather items (Palla 2006; Pasquarella et al. 2015; Pasquariello et al. 2016).

Microbiologists have generally used sterile adhesive tape to collect samples from skin, food, or medical devices, to detect pathogenic microorganisms in a noninvasive way (Miller 2006); adhesive tape may be associated with microscopic analysis, for example, to detect the presence of fungal conidia on stone surfaces (observation



Fig. 1.4 Noninvasive sampling tools: (a) cotton swab on stone, (b) adhesive tape on lather, (c) nylon membrane fragment on book and (d) nitrocellulose membrane on paper (drawing)

in light microscopy), or with other techniques, as well as fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH), molecular and culture techniques (La Cono and Urzì 2003; Bisha and Brehm-Stecher 2009). Adhesive tape sampling can be widely and safely applied in the field for the conservation of cultural heritage, due to its several advantages (i.e., it is cheap and does not require the expertise of specialized staff). Recently, Urzì and De Leo (2001) proposed the use of adhesive tape strips as a nondestructive sampling technique for the study of microbial colonization on monument surfaces. Cutler et al. (2012) used adhesive tape to collect fungi samples suitable for molecular analysis from stone buildings.

1.4.2 Microscopy

The most common tools used in the field of cultural heritage (assessing the biological contribute to depleting of cultural items) are microscopy techniques applied to the study of biodeterioration processes in cultural assets. Different kinds of microscopes are used to observe biofragments from needle, scalpel, or adhesive tape samplings; to recognize the biodeteriogen morphology, species, secondary metabolites, and products; or to provide direct evidence of biofilm formation.

Microscopy techniques are also widely used to observe the morphology of microbial taxa; several microscopy techniques have been used to study the



Fig. 1.5 Microscopy techniques used to reveal microbial systems: (**a**) fungal structures (*Alternaria* spp.) stained by Lugol's solution observed by $OM - 40 \times$ magnification, (**b**) micrograph by SEM of fungal reproductive structure and spores (*Penicillium* spp.), and (**c**) green and red autofluores-cence patterns related to cyanobacteria and algae cells by CLSM

relationship between microorganisms and rock applying nondestructive methods; both light microscopy and light microscopy combined with scanning electron microscopy were used (de los Rìos and Ascaso 2005).

The most common microscopy techniques used in studying microbial colonies are optical microscopy (OM), or light microscopy (LM), scanning electron microscopy with back-scattered electron imaging (SEM-BSE), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM), and environmental SEM (ESEM) (Macedo et al. 2009; Herrera and Videla 2009; Rakotonirainy et al. 2007).

Optical or light microscopy can provide information simply by observing the samples and is useful in the detection of several morphological structures (Fig. 1.5a) (e.g., fungi, cyanobacteria, algae, lichens) (Golubíc et al. 2015; Macedo et al. 2009). This type of microscope is useful for first stage identification of bacteria as cellular morphology and reaction with the Gram stain can be verified (Bergmans et al. 2005).

Electronic microscopes are widely used in scientific applications, the most frequently utilized being SEM and TEM, which allow observation and surface characterization at a higher resolution and depth of field than the optical microscope by giving a 3D effect to the images (Fig. 1.5b) (Nuhoglu et al. 2006; Troiano et al. 2014; Golubíc et al. 2015; Florian and Manning 2000; Cappitelli et al. 2009). Unlike SEM, in ESEM analysis the sample is hydrated and nonconducting, without prior dehydration or conductive coating (Bergmans et al. 2005). CLSM is extremely useful for revealing the chemical and biological relationship between a microorganism (biodeteriogen) and its microenvironment (colonized substrate); CLSM has many advantages, as its nondestructive and "real-time" technique can be used in situ to detect the growth, metabolism, and gene expression of organisms including the microenvironment surrounding each cell (Fig. 1.5c) (Caldwell et al. 1992; Villa et al. 2015). A full range of multi-microscopic techniques (CLSM/SEM) is often used to detect biota communities (fungi, bacteria, cyanobacteria) on samples from particular cultural items (e.g., mummies, fossilized bones), to confirm the presence of certain organisms, or to establish which dominant biota is causing deterioration in biofilm (Palla et al. 2011; Janssens and Van Grieken 2004; Marano et al. 2016; Polo et al. 2012; de los Rios and Ascaso 2005).

1.4.3 In Vitro Culture

Traditional culture methods for isolation and identification of microorganisms are very useful in assessing biodeterioration in cultural heritage. The cultivation methods (nutritive media) are used for the specific isolation of fungi and bacteria or specific growing of other biological systems, such as cyanobacteria or lichens. Some nutritive media may be designed for specific strains proposing the growth condition that originally existed on the cultural heritage (e.g., high pH level for strains isolated from wall paintings) (Gorbushina et al. 2004).

In order to reveal microbial contamination of cultural items (organic or inorganic), it is possible to place a piece of item (sample) directly onto the nutritive medium (Abrusci et al. 2005) or sampling tools, such as swabs, adhesive tape, or charged membranes (Pasquarella et al. 2015; Palla et al. 2015). No medium has been recommended for the isolation of certain microorganisms; as regards the isolation of fungal communities from paper heritage, for example, Sabouraud dextrose agar and malt extract agar, sometimes supplemented with an antibiotic such as chloramphenicol or streptomycin to inhibit bacterial growth, and Czapek agar have been used. For determining the total number of cultivable bacteria, tryptic soy agar is used, while MacConkey agar is used to detect gram-negative bacteria (López-Miras et al. 2013).

The microbial samples may be put into a nutritive broth (generally composed of a peptone solution with meat extract and mineral salts, agar-free) and incubated for many hours (18–72 h) to allow microbial growth.

Thus, it is possible to perform morphological analysis detecting and evaluating macroscopic parameters, e.g., color, shape, and appearance (Fig. 1.6). Colony-forming units (CFU) on solid growth media are counted using a simple visual inspection. Besides pH, the availability of nutrients, the temperature, and the duration of incubation are also important for successful isolation. However, methods based on the cultivation of microorganisms may detect only a minor fraction (2-5%) of the total number of microbial communities, this cultivable fraction representing only the living part of the microbes in the sample (Otlewska et al. 2014). In any



Fig. 1.6 Bacteria and fungi isolated by culture-dependent methods: (**a**) huge microbial growing on nutritive medium, (**b**) fungal colony on Sabouraud media (*Scopulariopsis* spp.), and (**c**) subculture onto N-Agar medium (*Micrococcus luteus*)

case, culture-based approaches alone cannot provide exhaustive information on the real microbial consortia, also because only a small fraction of the microorganisms can be cultivated (Dakal and Arora 2012). For this reason, for correct evaluation of biological contaminants, culture techniques should be supported by molecular investigations.

1.4.4 Molecular Investigations

While traditional microbiological methods based on culture procedures provide important but limited information on microbial communities, molecular techniques offer a great overview on the diversity of microbiota involved in the biodeterioration of monuments and artworks (Otlewska et al. 2014; Gonzáles and Saiz-Jiménez 2005).

The development of recent molecular techniques has improved the sensitivity, specificity and speed of detecting microorganisms. Primarily, the molecular detection of microorganisms begins with the extraction of nucleic acids from collected samples, using specific *ad hoc* protocols or commercial kits. The detection of microorganisms is mainly based on the sequence of small subunits (16S for bacteria and 18S for fungi) ribosomal RNA (rRNA) genes (Gonzáles and Saiz-Jiménez 2005). Molecular investigation continues with *in vitro* amplification of specific genomic regions by polymerase chain reaction (PCR), analyses of amplification products using gel electrophoresis technique, determination of nucleotide composition of DNA fragments (sequencing) and analyses of homology of sequence using international data banks (e.g., NIH, USA; EMBL, Germany). The existence of DNA database guarantees optimal identification of the microorganisms detected and the possibility of carrying out phylogenetic analysis (Palla 2004; Gonzáles and Saiz-Jiménez 2005).

At present, molecular methods, including polymerase chain reaction (PCR), denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and the creation of clone libraries, are used as a sensitive alternative to conventional cultivation techniques. DGGE is the most frequently reported technique for separating DNA fragments during microbial diversity studies of art objects (Dakal and Arora 2012; Otlewska et al. 2014; González and Saiz-Jiménez 2004; Michaelsen et al. 2010). Genetic fingerprinting is a rapid and useful method for studying diversity in microbial communities including nonculturable and inactive microorganisms (Otlewska et al. 2014).

Polo et al. (2010) studied microbial contamination using denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis and established that cyanobacteria and green algae genera were responsible for green staining. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) has been applied in the field of conservation and restoration to study microbiota involved in biodeterioration. Furthermore, the application of FISH directly on adhesive tape strips added another advantage to this non-destructive sampling method and led to the identification in situ of the microorganisms present on a given area, without destruction of the valuable surfaces and with little biofilm disturbance (Andersen et al. 2001; Sterflinger 2010).

The application of molecular biology on cultural heritage has been applied to identify the development of microorganisms in inorganic materials or in organic materials, in museums, and in archives (Piñar et al. 2013; Valentin 2003). Molecular biology provides a sensitive study on the microbial contamination of works of art, based on the analysis of specific DNA genomic sequences.

In order to increase the screening of a large number of microorganisms, oligonucleotide microarray protocols have been applied for the detection and genotyping microbial variety (Maynard et al. 2005) and can be used efficiently in the identification of microbial communities affecting cultural heritage.

Microarray analysis is based on hybridization between fluorescent-labeled DNA sequences and thousands of probes immobilized on a glass slide (array), providing a cultivation-independent characterization of microbes on works of art (Gargano et al. 2012; Neugebauer et al. 2010). The core principle behind microarrays is hybridization between two DNA strands, the property of complementary nucleic acid sequences to specifically pair with each other by forming hydrogen bonds

between complementary nucleotide base pairs. Each DNA spot contains a specific DNA probe sequence, used to hybridize a sample called target under high-stringency conditions. Fluorescently labeled target sequences that bind to a probe sequence generates a signal that depends on hybridization conditions (such as temperature) and washing after hybridization. These sample microarrays contain a large number of samples that could be analyzed, for instance, through FISH techniques for the detection of specific microorganisms or the expression of specific genes (Gonzalez 2003; Andersen et al. 2001; Kononen et al. 1998).

References

- Abrusci C, Martìn-Gonzalez A, Del Amo A, Catalina F, Collado J, Platas G (2005) Isolation and identification of bacteria and fungi from cinematographic films. Int Biodeter Biodegr 56(1):58– 68. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2005.05.004
- Adamo P, Violante P (2000) Weathering of rocks and neogenesis of minerals associated with lichen activity. Appl Clay Sci 16(5–6):229–256. doi:10.1016/S0169-1317(99)00056-3
- Albertano P, Urzì C (1993) Structural interactions among epilithic cyanobacteria and heterotrophic microorganisms in Roman hypogea. Microbial Ecol 38(3):244–252. doi:10.1007/ s002489900174
- Albertano P, Moscone D, Palleschi G, Hermosin B, Saiz-Jimenez C, Sanchez-Moral S, Hernandez-Marine M, Urzi C, Groth I, Schroeckh V, Saarela M, Mattila-Sandholm T, Gallon JR, Graziottin F, Bisconti F, Giuliani R (2003) Cyanobacteria attack rocks (CATS): control and preventive strategies to avoid damage caused by cyanobacteria and associated microorganisms in Roman hypogean monuments. In: Saiz-Jimenez C (ed) Molecular biology and cultural heritage. Balkema, Lisse
- Allsopp D, Seal KJ, Gaylarde CC (2004) Introduction to biodeterioration. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Almeida MT, Mouga T, Barracosa P (1994) The weathering ability of higher plants. The case of Alianthus altissima (Miller) Swingle. Int Biodeter Biodegr 33(4):333–343. doi:10.1016/0964-8305(94)90011-6
- Anagnostidis K, Gehrmann CK, Gross M, Krumbein WE, Lisi S, Pantazidou A, Urzì C, Zagari M (1991) Biodeterioration of marbles of the Parthenon and Propylaea, Acropolis, Athensassociated organisms, decay and treatment suggestions. In: Decrouez D, Chamay J, Zezza F (eds) Proceedings of the 2nd international symposium. Musée dArt et dHistoire de Genéve, Genéve, pp 305–325
- Andersen CL, Hostetter G, Grigoryan A, Sauter G, Kallioniemi A (2001) Improved procedure for fluorescence in situ hybridization on tissue microarrays. Cytometry 45:83–86
- Ascaso C, Wierzchos J (1995) Study of the biodeterioration zone between the lichen thallus and the substrate. Cryptogamic Botany 5:270–281
- Barresi G, Di Carlo E, Trapani MR, Parisi MG, Chillè C, Mulè MF, Cammarata M, Palla F (2015) Marine organism as source of bioactive molecules applied in restoration projects. Herit Sci 3(17). doi:10.1186/s40494-015-0046-1
- Bergmans L, Moisiadis P, Van Meerbeek B, Quirynen M, Lambrechts P (2005) Microscopic observation of bacteria: review highlighting the use of environmental SEM. Int Endod J 38(11):775–788. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2591.2005.00999.x
- Bettini C, Villa A (1976) Il problema della vegetazione infestante nelle aree archeologiche. In: Rossi-Manaresi R (ed) The conservation of stone I. Bologna, Italy, pp 191–204
- Bisha B, Brehm-Stecher BF (2009) Simple adhesive-tape-based sampling of tomato surfaces combined with rapid fluorescence in situ hybridization for Salmonella detection. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(5):1450–1455. doi:10.1128/AEM.01944-08

- Biswas J, Sharma K, Harris KK, Rajput Y (2013) Biodeterioration agents: bacterial and fungal diversity dwelling in or on the pre-historic rock-paints of Kabra-pahad, India. Iran J Microbiol 5(3):309–314
- Blanchette RA (2000) A review of microbial deterioration found in archaeological wood from different environments. Int Biodeter Biodegr 46:189–204. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(00)00077-9
- Bock E, Koops HP, Moller UC, Rudert M (1990) A new facultatively nitrite oxidizing bacterium, Nitrobacter vulgaris sp. nov. Arch Microbiol 153:105–110
- Borrego S, Guiamet P, Gómez de Saravia S, Batistini P, Garcia M, Lavin P, Perdomo I (2010) The quality of air at archives and the biodeterioration of photographs. Int Biodeter Biodegr 64(2):139–145. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2009.12.005
- Borrego S, Lavin P, Perdomo I, Gómez de Saravia S, Guiamet P (2012) Determination of indoor air quality in archives and biodeterioration of the documentary heritage. ISRN Microbiol 2012:1–10. doi:10.5402/2012/680598
- Burford EP, Fomina M, Gadd GM (2003) Fungal involvement in bioweathering and biotransformation of rocks and minerals. Mineral Mag 67:1127–1155
- Caldwell DE, Korber DR, Lawrenc JR (1992) Confocal laser microscopy and digital image analysis in microbial ecology. Adv Microb Ecol 12:1–67
- Caneva G, Galotta G (1994) Floristic and structural changes of plant communities of the Domus Aurea (Rome) related to a different weed control. In: Fassina V, Off H, Zezza F (eds) Proceedings of the 3rd international symposium. The conservation of monuments in the mediterranean basin. ICCROM, Venezia, Italy pp 317–322
- Caneva G, Nugari MP, Salvadori O (1994) La biologia nel restauro. Nardini Editore, Firenze
- Caneva G, Nugari MP, Salvadori O, Getty Conservation Institute (1998) Plant biology for cultural heritage: biodeterioration and conservation. Getty Publications, Los Angeles, California, USA
- Caneva G, Pacini A, Celesti Grapow L, Ceschin S (2003) The Colosseum's use and state of abandonment as analysed through its flora. Int Biodeter Biodegr 51(3):211–219. doi:10.1016/ S0964-8305(02)00173-7
- Caneva G, Ceschin S, De Marco G (2006) Mapping "tree root damage risk" for the conservation of archaeological sites: the case of the Domus Aurea (Rome). Conserv Manage Archaeol Sites 7(3):163–170
- Caneva G, Nugari MP, Salvadori O (2008) Plant biology for cultural heritage. Biodeterioration and conservation. The Getty Conservation Institute, Los Angeles
- Canhoto O, Pinzari F, Fanelli C, Magan N (2004) Application of electronic nose technology for the detection of fungal contamination in library paper. Int Biodeter Biodegr 54(4):303–309. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2004.04.001
- Capotorti G, Del Vico E, Lattanzi E, Tilia A, Celesti Grapow L (2013) Exploring biodiversity in a metropolitan area in the Mediterranean region: the urban and suburban flora of Rome (Italy). Plant Biosyst 147(1):174–185. doi:10.1080/11263504.2013.771715
- Cappitelli F, Abbruscato P, Foladori P, Zanardini E, Ranalli G, Principi P, Villa F, Polo A, Sorlini C (2009) Detection and elimination of Cyanobacteria from frescoes: the case of the St. Brizio Chapel (Orvieto Chatedral, Italy). Microb Ecol 57:633–639. doi:10.1007/s00248-008-9441-4
- Casoli E, Ricci S, Belluscio A, Gravina MF, Ardizzone G (2015) Settlement and colonization of epi-endobenthic communities on calcareous substrata in an underwater archaeological site. Mar Ecol 36(4):1060–1074
- Cataldo R, De Donno A, De Nunzio G, Leucci G, Nuzzo L, Siviero S (2005) Integrated methods for analysis of cultural heritage: the Crypt of "Cattedrale di Otranto". J Cult Herit 6(1):29–38. doi:10.1016/j.culher.2004.05.004
- Celesti-Grapow L, Blasi C (2004) The role of Alien and Native Weeds in the deterioration of archaeological remains in Italy. Weed Technol 18:1508–1513
- Chen J, Blume HP, Beyer L (2000) Weathering of rocks induced by lichen colonization a review. Catena 39(2):121–146. doi:10.1016/S0341-8162(99)00085-5
- Crispim CA, Gaylarde CC (2005) Cyanobacteria and biodeterioration of cultural heritage: a review. Microb Ecol 49(1):1–9. doi:10.1007/s00248-003-1052-5

- Cutler NA, Oliver AE, Viles HA, Whiteley AS (2012) Non-destructive sampling of rock-dwelling microbial communities using sterile adhesive tape. J Microbiol Meth 91(3):391–398. doi:10.1016/j.mimet.2012.09.022
- Cutler NA, Viles HA, Ahmad S, McCabe S, Smith BJ (2013) Algal "greening" and the conservation of stone heritage structures. Sci Total Environ 442:152–164. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.10.050
- Dakal TC, Arora KP (2012) Evaluation of potential molecular and physical techniques in studying biodeterioration. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 11:71–104. doi:10.1007/s11157-012-9264-0
- Dakal TC, Cameotra SS (2011) Geomicrobiology of cultural monuments and artworks: mechanism of biodeterioration, bioconservation strategies and applied molecular approaches. In: Mason AC (ed) Bioremediation: biotechnology, engineering, and environment management. Nova Science Publishers, New York
- Dakal TC, Cameotra SS (2012) Microbially induced deterioration of architectural heritages: routes and mechanisms involved. Environ Sci Eur 24(1):1–13. doi:10.1186/2190-4715-24-36
- de la Torre MA, Gomez-Alarcon G (1994) Manganese and iron oxidation by fungi isolated from building stone. Microb Ecol 27(2):177–188
- de la Torre MA, Gomez-Alarcon G, Vizcaino C, Garcia MT (1993) Biochemical mechanisms of stone alteration carried out by filamentous fungi living in monuments. Biogeochemistry 19(3):129–147
- de los Rìos A, Ascaso C (2005) Contribution of in situ microscopy to the current understanding of stone biodeterioration. Int Microbiol 8(3):181–188
- de los Ríos A, Cámara B, García del Cura MÁ, Rico VJ, Gálvan V, Ascaso C (2009) Deteriorating effects of lichen and microbial colonization of carbonate building rocks in Romanesque churches of Segovia (Spain). Sci Total Environ 407(3):123–1134. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.09.042
- Delgado Rodrigues J, Valero J (2003) A brief note on the elimination of dark stains of biological origin. Stud Conserv 48(1):17–22
- Fernandes P (2006) Applied microbiology and biotechnology in the conservation of cultural heritage materials. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 73(2):291–296. doi:10.1007/s00253-006-0599-8
- Florian MLE, Manning L (2000) SEM analysis of irregular fungal fox spots in an 1854 book: population dynamics and species identification. Int Biodeter Biodegr 46(3):205–220. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(00)00062-7
- Gargano V, Mancuso FP, Vitale F, Reale S, Caracappa S, Palla F (2012) DNA-microarray technology for the identification of microbial species onto the surfaces and in the aerosol of indoor environments. In: Sistemi biologici e Beni Culturali: area tematica Biologia e Biotecnologie per i Beni Culturali, atti Convegno Nazionale AIAr, Palermo, 6–7 Ottobre 2009, Regione Siciliana, Assessorato dei Beni Culturali e dell'Identità Siciliana, Dipartimento dei Beni Culturali e dell'Identità Siciliana, pp 164–171
- Giustetto R, Gonella D, Bianciotto V, Lumini E, Voyron S, Costa E, Diana E (2015) Transfiguring biodegradation of frescoes in the Beata Vergine del Pilone Sanctuary (Italy): microbial analysis and minero-chemical aspects. Int Biodeter Biodegr 98:6–18. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2014.10.020
- Golubíc S, Pietrini AM, Ricci S (2015) Euendolithic activity of cyanobacterium Chroococcus lithophilus Erc. In biodeterioration of the Pyramid of Caius Cestius, Rome, Italy. Int Biodet Biodeg 100:7–16. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2015.01.019
- Gonzáles JM, Saiz-Jiménez C (2005) Application of molecular nucleic acid-based techniques for the study of microbial communities in monuments and artworks. Int Microbiol 8(3):189–194
- Gonzalez JM (2003) Overview on existing molecular techniques with potential interest in cultural heritage. In: Taylor & Francis (ed) Molecular biology and cultural heritage. Balkema, Lisse, pp 3–13
- González JM, Saiz-Jiménez C (2004) Microbial diversity in biodeteriorated monuments as studied by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. J Sep Sci 27(3):174–180. doi:10.1002/jssc.200301609
- Gorbushina AA, Palinska KA (1999) Biodeteriorative processes on glass: experimental proof of the role of fungi and cyanobacteria. Aerobiologia 15(3):183–191. doi:10.1023/A: 1007616614172

- Gorbushina AA, Heyrman J, Dornieden T, Gonzalez-Delvalle M, Krumbein WE, Laiz L, Petersen K, Saiz-Jimenez C, Swings J (2004) Bacterial and fungal diversity and biodeterioration problems in mural paintings environments of St. Martins Church (Greene-Kreiensen, Germany). Int Biodeter Biodegr 53(1):13–24. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2003.07.003
- Green CF, Scarpino PV (2002) The use of ultraviolet germicidal irradiation (UVGI) in disinfection of airborne bacteria. Environ Eng Policy 3(1):101–107. doi:10.1007/s100220100046
- Gu JD, Ford TE, Berke NS, Mitchell R (1998) Biodeterioration of concrete by the fungus Fusarium. Int Biodeter Biodegr 41(1):101–109. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(98)00034-1
- Guiamet P, Igareta A, Battistoni P, Gómez de Saravia S (2014) Fungi and bacteria in the biodeterioration of archeological fibers. Analysis using different microscopic techniques. Rev Argent Microbiol 46(4):376–377. doi:10.1016/S0325-7541(14)70097-5
- Gutarowska B (2010) Metabolic activity of moulds as a factor of building materials biodegradation. Pol J Microbiol 59(2):119–124
- Hauer T, Mühlsteinová R, Bohunická M, Kaštovský J, Mareš J (2015) Diversity of cyanobacteria on rock surfaces. Biodivers Conserv 24(4):759–779. doi:10.1007/s10531-015-0890-z
- Herrera LK, Videla HA (2009) Surface analysis and materials characterization for the study of biodeterioration and weathering effects on cultural property. Int Biodeter Biodegr 63(7):813– 822. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2009.05.002
- Herrera LK, Le Borgne S, Videla HA (2009) Modern methods for materials characterization and surface analysis to study the effects of biodeterioration and weathering on buildings of buildings of cultural heritage. Int J Archit Herit 3(1):74–91. doi:10.1080/15583050802149995
- Hirsch P, Eckhardt FEW, Palmer RJ (1995) Methods for the study of rock-inhabiting microorganisms-a mini review. J Microbiol Methods 23(2):143–167. doi:10.1016/ 0167-7012(95)00017-F
- Hochella MF (2002) Sustaining earth: thoughts on the present and future roles in mineralogy in environmental science. Mineral Mag 66(5):627–652. doi:10.1180/0026461026650053
- Hoffmann L (2002) Caves and other low-light environments: aerophytic photoautotrophic microorganisms. In: Bitton G (ed) Encyclopedia of environmental microbiology. John Wiley, New York, pp 835–843
- Hoppert M, König S (2006) The succession of biofilms on building stone and its possible impact on biogenic weathering. In: Fort R, Alvarez de Buergo M, Gomez-Heras M, Vazquez-Calvo C (eds) Heritage, weathering and conservation, vol 2. Taylor & Francis, London, pp 311–315
- Hu H, Ding S, Katayama Y, Kusumi A, Xian Li S, de Vries RP, Wang J, Yu X-Z, Gu J-D (2013) Occurrence of *Aspergillus allahabadii* on sandstone at Bayon temple, Angkor Thom, Cambodia. Int Biodeter Biodegr 76:112–117. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.06.022
- Hueck HJ (1968) The biodeterioration of materials an appraisal. In: Walters AH, Elphick JS (eds) Biodeterioration of materials. Elsevier, London, pp 6–12
- Huer B (2008) Spatial distribution of cyanobacteria and algae from the tombstone in a historic cemetery in Bratislava, Slovakia. Fottea 9(1):81–92
- Isola D, Zucconi L, Onofri S, Caneva G, Hoog GS, Selbmann L (2016) Extremotolerant rock inhabiting black fungi from Italian monumental sites. Fungal Divers 76(1):1–22. doi:10.1007/ s13225-015-0342-9
- Janssens K, Van Grieken R (eds) (2004) Non-destructive micro analysis of cultural heritage materials, vol 42. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Karbowska-Berent J, Strzelczyk A (2000) The role of *Streptomycetes* in the biodeterioration of historic parchment. Acta Microbiol Pol 49:177–178
- Karbowska-Berent J, Jarmiłko J, Czuczko J (2014) Fungi in fox spots of a drawing by Leon Wyczółkowski. Restaurator 35(2):159–179. doi:10.1515/rest-2014-1000
- Kauffmann MJ (1952) Rôle des bactéries nitrificantes dans l'altération des pierres calcaires des monuments. Competes Rendus Acad Sci 234:2395–2397
- Kavkler K, Gunde-Cimerman N, Zalar P, Demšar A (2015) Fungal contamination of textile objects preserved in Slovene museums and religious institutions. Int Biodeter Biodegr 97:51–59. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2014.09.020

- Kononen J, Bubendorf L, Kallioniemi A, Barlund M, Schraml P, Leighton S, Torhorst J, Mihatsch MJ, Sauter G, Kallioniemi OP (1998) Tissue microarrays for high-throughput molecular profiling of tumor specimens. Nat Med 4(7):844–847. doi:10.1038/ nm0798-844
- Koochakzaei A, Achachluei MM (2015) Red stains on archaeological leather: degradation characteristics of a shoe from the 11th-13th centuries (Seljuk period, Iran). JAIC 54(1):45–56. doi:10 .1179/1945233014Y.0000000033
- Kraková L, Chovanová K, Selim SA, Šimonovičová A, Puškarová A, Maková A, Pangallo D (2012) A multiphasic approach for investigation of microbial diversity and its biodegradative abilities in historical paper and parchment documents. Int Biodeter Biodegr 70:117–125. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.01.011
- Krumbein WE (2003) Patina and cultural heritage a geomicrobiologist's prospective How microbes change surfaces. In: Kozlowski R (ed) Cultural Heritage Research: a Pan European Challenge, Proceedings of the 5th European Commission Conference, Cracow, Poland, 16–18 May 2002, pp 1–9
- Kumar R, Kumar AV (1999) Biodeterioration of stone in tropical environments. An overview. The Getty Conservation Institute, Los Angeles
- La Cono V, Urzì C (2003) Fluorescent in situ hybridation applied on samples taken with adhesive tape strips. J Microbiol Methods 55(1):65–71. doi:10.1016/S0167-7012(03)00115-5
- La Placa M (2005) Principi di microbiologia medica. Esculapio Editore, Bologna, Italy
- Lamenti G, Tomaselli L, Tiano P (2003) Cyanobacteria and biodeterioration of monumental stones. In: Saiz-Jimenez C (ed) Molecular biology and cultural heritage. Balkema, Lisse, pp 73–78
- Lisci M, Monte M, Pacini E (2003) Lichens and higher plants on stone: a review. Int Biodeter Biodegr 51(1):1–17. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(02)00071-9
- Lombardozzi V, Castrignanò T, D'Antonio M, Casanova Municchia A, Caneva G (2012) An interactive database for an ecological analysis of stone biopitting. Int Biodeter Biodegr 73:8–15. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.04.016
- López-Miras M, Piñar G, Romero-Noguera J, Bolivar-Galiano FC, Ettenauer J, Sterflinger K, Martin-Sanchez I (2013) Microbial communities adhering to the obverse and reverse sides of an oil painting on canvas: identification and evaluation of their biodegradative potential. Aerobiologia 29(2):301–314. doi:10.1007/s10453-012-9281-z
- Macedo MF, Miller AZ, Dionísio A, Saiz-Jimenez C (2009) Biodiversity of Cyanobacteria and green algae on monuments in the Mediterranean Basin: an overview. Microbiology 155(11):3476–3490. doi:10.1099/mic.0.032508-0
- Mandrioli P, Caneva G, Sabbioni C (eds) (2003) Cultural heritage and aerobiology: methods and measurement techniques for biodeterioration monitoring. Springer, Netherlands. doi:10.1007/978-94-017-0185-3
- Manente S, Micheluz A, Ganzerla R, Ravagnan G, Gambaro A (2012) Chemical and biological characterization of paper: a case study using a proposed methodological approach. Int Biodeter Biodegr 72:99–108. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.03.008
- Mansch R, Bock E (1998) Biodeterioration of natural stone with special reference to nitrifying bacteria. Biodeterioration 9(1):47–64. doi:10.1023/A:1008381525192
- Marano F, Di Rita F, Palombo MR, Ellwood NTW, Bruno L (2016) A first report of biodeterioration caused by cyanobacterial biofilms of exposed fossil bones: A case study of the middle Pleistocene site of La Polledrara di Cecanibbio (Rome, Italy). Int Biodeter Biodegr 106:67–74. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2015.10.004
- Martino M, Schiavone S, Balloi A, Pellegrino L, De Castro E, Palla F (2015) Bioremoval of sulphate layer from a 15th century polychrome marble artefact. Cons Sci Cult Herit 15:235–243
- Marvasi M, Donnarumma F, Frandi A, Mastromei G, Sterflinger K, Tiano P, Perito B (2012) Black microcolonial fungi as deteriogens of two famous marble statues. Int Biodeter Biodegr 68: 36–44. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2011.10.011
- May et al (1993): May E, Lewis FJ, Pereire S, Tayler S, Seaward MRD, Allopp D 1993, Microbial deterioration of building stone a review. Biodeterioration Abstracts 7:109–123

- Maynard C, Berthiaume F, Lemarchand K, Harel J, Payment P, Bayardelle P, Masson L, Brousseau R (2005) Waterborne pathogens detection by use of oligonucleotide-based, microarray. Appl Environ Microbiol 71(12):8548–8557. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.12.8548-8557.2005
- McNamara CJ, Mitchell R (2005) Microbial deterioration of historic stone. Front Ecol Environ 3(8):445–451. doi:10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0445:MDOHS]2.0.CO;2
- Michaelsen A, Piñar G, Montanari M, Pinzari F (2009) Biodeterioration and restoration of a 16th century book using a combination of conventional and molecular techniques: a case study. Int Biodeter Biodegr 63(2):161–168. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2008.08.007
- Michaelsen A, Piñar G, Pinzari F (2010) Molecular and microscopical investigation of the microflora inhabiting a deteriorated Italian manuscript dated from the thirteenth century. Microb Ecol 60(1):69–80. doi:10.1007/s00248-010-9667-9
- Miller DL (2006) Application of adhesive techniques to harvest stratum corneum material. In: Serup J, Jemec GBE, Grove GL (eds) Handbook of non-invasive methods and the skin. CRC Press, Second Edition, pp 371–373. doi:10.3109/9781420003307-52
- Miller JD, Haisley PD, Reinhardt JH (2000) Air sampling result in relation to extend of fungal colonization of building materials in some water-damaged buildings. Indoor Air 10(3):146– 151. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0668.2000.010003146.x
- Miller A, Macedo MF, Fort R, Alvarez de Buergo M, Gomez-Heras M, Vazquez-Calvo C (2006) Mapping and characterization of a green biofilm inside of Vilar de Frades church (Portugal). In: Heritage, weathering and conservation, vol 2. Taylor & Francis, London, pp 329–355
- Mishra AK, Jain KK, Garg KL (1995) Role of higher plants in the deterioration of historical buildings. Sci Total Environ 167(1–3):375–392. doi:10.1016/0048-9697(95)04597-T
- Mitchell R, Gu J-D (2000) Changes in the biofilm microflora of limestone caused by atmospheric pollutants. Int Biodeter Biodegr 46(4):299–303. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(00)00105-0
- Montanari M, Melloni V, Pinzari F (2012) Fungal biodeterioration of historical materials stored in Compactus movable shelves. Int Biodeter Biodegr 75:83–88. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.03.011
- Montemartini Corte A, Ferroni A, Salvo VS (2003) Isolation of fungal species from test samples and maps damaged by foxing, and correlation between these species and the environment. Int Biodeter Biodegr 51(3):167–173. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(02)00137-3
- Moroni B, Pitzurra L (2008) Biodegradation of atmospheric pollutants by fungi: a crucial point in the corrosion of carbonate building stone. Int Biodeter Biodegr 62(4):391–396. doi:10.1016/j. ibiod.2008.03.011
- Neelakanta G, Sultana H (2013) The use of metagenomic approaches to analyze changes in microbial communities. Microbiol Insights 6:37–48. doi:10.4137/MBI.S10819
- Neugebauer W, Leinberger DM, Petersen K, Schumacher U, Bachmann TT, Krekel C (2010) The development of a DNA microarray for the rapid identification of moulds on works of art. Stud Conser 55(4):258–273. doi:10.1179/sic.2010.55.4.258
- Nielsen KF, Holm G, Uttrup LP, Nielsen PA (2004) Mould growth on building materials under low water activities. Influence of humidity and temperature on fungal growth and secondary metabolism. Int Biodeter Biodegr 54(4):325–336. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2004.05.002
- Nittérus M (2000) Fungi in archives and libraries, a literary survey. Restaurator 21(1):25–40. doi:10.1515/REST.2000.25
- Nuhoglu Y, Oguz E, Uslu H, Ozbek A, Ipekoglu B, Ocak I, Hasenekoglu I (2006) The accelerating effects of the microorganisms on biodeterioration of stone monuments under air pollution and continental-cold climatic conditions in Erzurum, Turkey. Sci Total Environ 364(1–3):272–283. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.06.034
- Onofri S, Zucconi L, Isola D, Selbmann L (2014) Rock-inhabiting fungi and their role in deterioration of stone monuments in the Mediterranean area. Plant Biosyst 148(2):384–391. doi:10.108 0/11263504.2013.877533
- Ortega-Calvo JJ, Hernandez-Marine M, Saiz-Jimenez C (1993) Cyanobacteria and algae on historic buildings and monuments. In: Garg KL, Garg N, Mukerji KG (eds) Recent advances in biodeterioration and biodegradation. Naya Prokash, Calcutta, India, pp 173–203
- Ortega-Calvo JJ, Ariño X, Hernandez-Marine M, Saiz-Jimenez C (1995) Factors affecting the weathering and colonization of monuments by phototrophic microorganisms. Sci Total Environ 167(1):329–341. doi:10.1016/0048-9697(95)04593-P

- Otlewska A, Adamiak J, Gutarowska B (2014) Application of molecular techniques for the assessment of microorganism diversity on cultural heritage objects. Acta Biochim Pol 61(2):217–225
- Palla F (2004) Molecular biotechnologies for the characterization and the evaluation of microorganisms in degradation processes of manufactures which are of historical artistic interest. Conserv Sci Cult Herit 4:183–194
- Palla F (2006) Biotechnologies for characterisation of bioaerosol in indoor environments for Cultural Heritage. In: D'Amico C (ed) Innovazioni tecnologiche per i Beni Culturali in Italia. Patron Editore, Bologna, Italy, pp 83–90
- Palla F (2011) Characterization of microbial communities in pest colonized books by molecular biology tools. JEAR 43(2):61–67. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.4081/jear.2011.61
- Palla F, Anello L, Pecorella S, Russo R, Damian F (2003) Characterization of bacterial communities on stone monuments by molecular biology tools. In: Saiz-Jimenez C (ed) Molecular biology and cultural heritage. Swets & Zeitlinger BV, Lisse, pp 115–118
- Palla F, Billeci N, Mancuso FP, Pellegrino L, Lorusso LC (2010) Microscopy and molecular biology techniques for the study of biocenosis diversity in semi-confined environments. Conserv Sci Cult Herit 10:185–194
- Palla F, Sineo L, Manachini B (2011) Bacteria, fungi and arthropod pests collected on modern human mummies. JEAR 43(2):69–76. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.4081/jear.2011.69
- Palla F, Cammarata M, Trapani MR, Ghersi G, Salamone M, Sebastianelli M (2013) Novel proteases from marine organisms with potential interest in restoration procedures. In: Rogerio-Candelera MA, Lazzari M, Cano E (eds) Science and technology for the conservation of cultural heritage. Taylor & Francis Group, London, pp 279–282. doi:10.1201/b15577-65
- Palla F, Figuccio B, Sebastianelli M, Vitella M (2015) Anthropomorphic wooden reliquaries an integrated approach to restoration. Eur J Sci Theol 11(2):25–32
- Pasquarella C, Balocco C, Pasquariello G, Petrone G, Saccani E, Manotti P, Ugolotti P, Ugolotti M, Palla F, Maggi O, Albertini R (2015) A multidisciplinary approach to the study of cultural heritage environments: experience at the Palatina Library in Parma. Sci Total Environ 536:557–567. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.07.105
- Pasquariello G, Barresi G, Di Carlo E, Rotolo V, Palla F (2016) Non-invasive monitoring of microbial contamination on graphic collections preserved in museums, libraries and archives. In: Abstracts book of IX Congresso Nazionale AIAr, Arcavacata di Rende, 9–11 Marzo, p 3
- Pavlogeorgatos G (2003) Environmental parameters in museums. Build Environ 38(12):1457–1462. doi:10.1016/S0360-1323(03)00113-6
- Perry TD, McNamara CJ, Mitchell R, Hernandez-Duque G (2003) An investigation of bacterial dissolution of Maya limestone: biodiversity and functional analysis. In: Saiz-Jimenez C (ed) Molecular biology and cultural heritage. Swets and Zeitlinger, Lisse, pp 137–140
- Piervittori R, Salvadori O, Laccisaglia A (1996) Literature on lichens and biodeterioration of stone works. Lichenologist 28(5):471–483. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0024282996000606
- Piñar G, Sterflinger K (2009) Microbes and building materials. In: Cornejo DN, Haro JL (eds) Building materials: properties, performance and applications. Nova, New York, pp 163–188
- Piñar G, Piombino-Mascali D, Maixner F, Zink A, Sterflinger K (2013) Microbial survey of the mummies from the Capuchin Catacombs of Palermo, Italy: biodeterioration risk and contamination of the indoor air. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 86(2):341–356. doi:10.1111/1574-6941.12165
- Piñar G, Sterflinger K, Pinzari F (2015) Unmasking the measles-like parchment discoloration: molecular and microanalytical approach. Environ Microbiol 17(2):427–443. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12471
- Polo A, Cappitelli F, Brusetti L, Principi P, Villa F, Giacomucci L, Ranalli G, Sorlini C (2010) Feasibility of removing surface deposits on stone using biological and chemical remediation methods. Microbiol Ecol 60(1):1–14. doi:10.1007/s00248-009-9633-6
- Polo A, Gulotta D, Santo N, Di Benedetto C, Fascio U, Toniolo L, Villa F, Cappitelli F (2012) Importance of subaerial biofilms and airborne microflora in the deterioration of stonework: a molecular study. Biofouling 28(10):1093–1106. doi:10.1080/08927014.2012.729580

- Prasad Gupta S, Sharma K (2012) The role of fungi in biodeterioration of sandstone with reference to Mahadev temple, Bastar, Chhattisgarh. Recent Res Sci Technol 4(3):18–21
- Prieto B, Silva B, Aira N, Álvarez L (2006) Towards a definition of a bioreceptivity index for granitic rocks. Perception of the change in appearance of the rock. Int Biodeter Biodegr 58(3– 4):150–154. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2006.06.015
- Rakotonirainy MS, Heude E, Lavédrine B (2007) Isolation and attempts of biomolecular characterization of fungal strains associated to foxing on a 19th century book. J Cult Herit 8(2):126– 133. doi:10.1016/j.culher.2007.01.003
- Rakotonirainy MS, Bénaud O, Vilmont L-B (2015) Contribution to the characterization of foxing stains on printed books using infrared spectroscopy and scanning electron microscopy energy dispersive spectrometry. Int Biodet Biodegr 101:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2015.02.031
- Ranalli G, Sorlini C (2008) Bioremediation, in plant biology for cultural heritage. Biodeterioration and conservation. In: Caneva G, Nugari MP, Salvadori O (eds) The Getty Conservation Institute. Los Angeles, CA, pp 340–346
- Ricci S, Davidde B (2012) Some aspects of the bioerosion of stone artefact found underwater: significant case studies. Conserv Manage Archaeological Sites 14(1/4):28–34. doi:http://dx. doi.org/10.1179/1350503312Z.000000003
- Roldan M, Clavero E, Castel S, Hernandez-Marine M (2004) Biofilms fluorescence and image analysis in hypogean monuments research. Algologic Stud 111(1):127–143. doi:http://dx.doi. org/10.1127/1864-1318/2004/0111-0127
- Sahab Ahmed F, Sidkey Nagwa M, Abed Nermine N (2014) Studies on indoor air quality in the repositories of the national library and archives of Egypt. Int J Sci Res 3(11):2122–2128
- Saiz-Jiménez C (1993) Deposition of airborne organic pollutants on historic buildings. Atmos Environ 27(1):77–85. doi:10.1016/0957-1272(93)90047-A
- Saiz-Jimenez C (1999) Biogeochemistry of weathering processes in monuments. Geomicrobiol J 16(1):27–37. doi:10.1080/014904599270721
- Salvadori O (2000) Characterisation of endolithic communities of stone monuments and natural outcrops. In: Ciferri O, Tiano P, Mastromei G (eds) Of microbes and art: the role of microbial communities in the degradation and protection of cultural heritage. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York, pp 21–38
- Salvadori O, Charola AE (2011) Methods to prevent biocolonization and recolonization: an overview of current research for architectural and archaeological heritage. In: Charola AE, McNamara C, Koestler R (eds) Biocolonization of stone: control and preventive methods proceedings from the MCI workshop series. Smithsonian Institution Scholarly Press, Washington DC, pp 37–50
- Salvadori O, Municchia AC (2016) The role of fungi and lichens in the biodeterioration of stone monuments. Open Conf Proc J 7(1:M4):39–54. doi:10.2174/2210289201607020039
- Sazanova KV, Shchiparev SM, Vlasov DY (2014) Formation of organic acids by fungi isolated from the surface of stone monuments. Mikrobiologiia 83(5):516–522. doi:10.1134/ S002626171405021X
- Sharma BRN, Chaturvedi K, Samadhia NK, Tailor PN (1985) Biological growth removal and comparative effectiveness of fungicides from central India temples for a decade in-situ. Proceedings 5th International Congress on Deterioration and Conservation of Stone, Lausanne, vol 2. Presses polytechniques romandes, Switzerland, pp 675–683
- Sharma K, Agrawal M, Jaiswal AK (2011) Biodeterioration of ancient monuments: problems and prospects. Cur Bot 2(1):23–24
- Souza-Egipsy V, Wierzchos J, Sancho C, Belmonte A, Ascaso C (2004) Role of biological soil crust cover in bioweathering and protection of sandstone in semi-arid landscape (Torrollones de Gabarda, Huesca, Spain). Earth Surf Process Land 29(13):1651–1661. doi:10.1002/ esp.1118
- Sterflinger K (2000) Fungi as geologic agents. Geomicrobiol J 17:97-124
- Sterflinger K (2010) Fungi: their role in deterioration of cultural heritage. Fungal Biol Rev 24(1):47–55. doi:10.1016/j.fbr.2010.03.003

- Sterflinger K, Piñar G (2013) Microbial deterioration of cultural heritage and works of art tilting at windmills? Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(22):9637–9646. doi:10.1007/ s00253-013-5283-1
- Sterflinger K, Pinzari F (2012) The revenge of time: fungal deterioration of cultural heritage with particular reference to books, paper and parchment. Environ Microbiol 14(3):559–566. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02584.x
- Strzelczyk AB (2004) Observations on aesthetic and structural changes induced in Polish historic objects by microorganisms. Int Biodeter Biodegr 53(3):151–156. doi:10.1016/ S0964-8305(03)00088-X
- Strzelczyk AB, Bannach L, Kurowska A (1997) Biodeterioration of archeological leather. Int Biodeter Biodegr 39(4):301–309. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(97)00026-7
- Suihko M, Alakomi H, Gorbushina A, Fortune I, Marquardt J, Saarela M (2007) Characterization of aerobic bacterial and fungal microbiota on surfaces of historic Scottish monuments. Syst Appl Microbiol 30(6):494–508. doi:10.1016/j.syapm.2007.05.001
- Swings J, Descheemaeker P (1995) The application of fatty-acid methyl-ester analysis (fame) for the identification of heterotrophic bacteria present in decaying lede-stone of the St Bavo Cathedral in Ghent. Sci Tot Environ 167:241–247
- Szostak-Kotowa J (2004) Biodeterioration of textiles. Int Biodeter Biodegr 53(3):165–170. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(03)00090-8
- Tayler S, May E (1995) A comparison of methods for the measurement of microbial activity on stone. Stud Conser 40:163–170
- Tiano P (1986) Problemi biologici nella conservazione del materiale lapido. La Prefabbricazione 22:261–272
- Tiano P, Tommaselli L (1989) Un caso di biodeterioramento del marmo. Arkos 6:211-217
- Tomaselli L, Lamenti G, Bosco M, Tiano P (2000) Biodiversity of photosynthetic micro-organisms dwelling on stone monuments. Int Biodeter Biodegr 46(3):251–258. doi:10.1016/ S0964-8305(00)00078-0
- Torre MA, Gomez-Alarcon G, Palacios JM (1993) 'In vitro' biofilm formation by *Penicillium frequentans* strains on sandstone, granite, and limestone. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 40(2):408–415. doi:10.1007/BF00170402
- Troiano F, Vicini S, Gioventù E, Lorenzi PF, Improta CM, Cappitelli F (2014) A methodology to select bacteria able to remove synthetic polymers. Polym Degrad Stabil 107:321–327. doi:10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2013.12.029
- Urzì C, De Leo F (2001) Sampling with adhesive tape strips: an easy and rapid method to monitor microbial colonization on monument surfaces. J Microbiol Methods 44(1):1–11. doi:10.1016/ S0167-7012(00)00227-X
- Urzi C, Krumbein WE (1994) Microbiological impacts on the cultural heritage. In: Krumbein WE, Brimblecombe P, Cosgrove DE, Staniforth S (eds) Durability and change: the science, responsibility, and cost of sustaining cultural heritage. John Willey & Sons, Chichester/West Sussex, pp 107–135. doi:10.13140/2.1.2289.1528
- Valentin N (2003) Microbial contamination in museum collections: organic materials. In: Saiz-Jimenez C (ed) Molecular biology and cultural heritage. Swets & Zeitlinger, Lisse
- Vaughan DJ, Pattrick RAD, Wogelius RA (2002) Mineral, metals and molecules: ore and environmental mineralogy in the new millennium. Mineral Mag 66(5):653–676. doi:10.1180/0026461026650054
- Villa F, Pitts B, Lauchnor E, Cappitelli F, Stewart P (2015) Development of a laboratory model of a phototroph-heterotroph mixed-species biofilm at the stone/air interface. Front Microbiol 6(1251):1–14
- Vukojević J, Grbić ML (2010) Moulds on paintings in Serbian fine art museums. Afr J Microbiol Res 4(13):1453–1456. doi:10.2298/ZMSPN0519175V
- Wagner E, Schwartz W (1965) Geomikrobiologische Untersuchungen. IV Untersuchungen über die mikrobielle Verwitterung von Kalkstein im Karst. Z Allg Mikrobiol 5(1):52–76. doi:10.1002/ jobm.19650050108

- Warscheid T, Braams J (2000) Biodeterioration of stone: a review. Int Biodeter Biodegr 46(4):343–368. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(00)00109-8
- Woese CR (2000) Interpreting the universal phylogenetic tree. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(15):8392–8396. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.15.8392
- Wollenzien U, de Hoog GS, Krumbein WE, Urzí C (1995) On the isolation of microcolonial fungi occurring on and in marble and other calcareous rocks. Sci Total Environ 167(1–3):287–294. doi:10.1016/0048-9697(95)04589-S
- Zanardini E, Abbruscato P, Ghedini N, Realini M, Sorlini C (2000) Influence of atmospheric pollutants on the biodeterioration of stone. Int Biodeter Biodegr 45(1–2):35–42. doi:10.1016/ S0964-8305(00)00043-3